
 

 
For enquiries regarding this agenda; 

Contact: 01737 276182 
Email: democratic@reigate-banstead.gov.uk  

Published 09 November 2022  
 

Agenda 
Commercial Ventures 
Executive Sub-
Committee 
Thursday, 17 November 2022 at 6.30 pm 

New Council Chamber, Town Hall, Reigate 

 

This meeting will take place in the Town Hall, 
Castlefield Road, Reigate. Members of the public, 
Officers and Visiting Members may attend remotely 
or in person. 

All attendees at the meeting have personal 
responsibility for adhering to any Covid control 
measures. Attendees are welcome to wear face 
coverings if they wish. 

 
Members of the public may observe the proceedings 
live on the Council’s website. 

 

 Members: 
 T. Archer (Chair) and M. A. Brunt (Leader)  
 T. Schofield V. H. Lewanski 

 

 
Mari Roberts-Wood 
Managing Director 

 
 

mailto:democratic@reigate-banstead.gov.uk
https://reigate-banstead.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


  
1.   Apologies for absence  

 To receive any apologies for absence.  

 
2.   Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 8) 

 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting on 20 October 
2022 as a correct record. 

 

 
3.   Declarations of interest  

 To receive any declarations of interest.  

 
4.   Project Baseball Closure, November 2022 (Pages 9 - 16) 

 To formally record the Council’s operational decision to cease 
any further development work on, and to close, Project Baseball. 

 

 
5.   Asset Management Plan 2023-2028 (To Follow) 

 To approve the Council’s Asset Management Plan 2023-2028.  

 
6.   Future operation of Council-owned cafe premises (To Follow) 

 To review a report on a phased programme of marketing and re-
letting the three Council-owned café premises in Reigate, Redhill 
and Banstead parks to secure a more sustainable income 
stream. 

 

 
7.   Greensand Holdings Limited - Funding requirement (To Follow) 

 To consider providing additional funds to Greensand Holdings 
Limited. 

 

 
8.   Partnership Action - Horley Business Park Development LLP (To Follow) 

 To consider required Partnership Actions as partner 
representative for Horley Business Park Development LLP for the 
2021 accounts and auditor appointment. 
 
 
 
 

 

 



9.   Exempt business  

 RECOMMENDED that members of the Press and public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following item of business 
under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 on the 
grounds that: 

(i) It involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Act; and  

(ii) The public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs 
the public interest in disclosing the information. 

 

 
10.   Any other business  

 To consider any other urgent business. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



 
Our meetings 
As we would all appreciate, our meetings will be conducted in a 
spirit of mutual respect and trust, working together for the 
benefit of our Community and the Council, and in accordance 
with our Member Code of Conduct. Courtesy will be shown to 
all those taking part. 
 

 
 

Streaming of meetings 
Meetings are broadcast live on the internet and are available to 
view online for six months. A recording is retained for six years 
after the meeting. In attending any meeting, you are recognising 
that you may be filmed and consent to the live stream being 
broadcast online, and available for others to view.  
 

 
 

 

Accessibility  
The Council’s agenda and minutes are provided in English. 
However, the Council also embraces its duty to anticipate the 
need to provide documents in different formats, such as audio, 
large print or in other languages. The Council will provide such 
formats where a need is identified prior to publication or on 
request.  
 

 
Notice is given of the intention to hold any part of this meeting 
in private for consideration of any reports containing “exempt” 
information, which will be marked accordingly.  

 



 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Commercial 
Ventures Executive Sub-Committee held 
at the New Council Chamber - Town Hall, 
Reigate on  
Thursday, 20 October 2022 at 7.05 pm. 
 
Present: CouncillorsT. Archer (Chair) and M. A. Brunt 
(Leader); T. Schofield and V. H. Lewanski (Vice-Chair) 
 

 
Visiting Members present: J. C. S. Essex, P. Chandler 
and R. Ritter. S. Sinden (attended remotely) 
 

 
24 Apologies for absence  

 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

25 Minutes of the previous meeting  
 
RESOLVED to approve the minutes of the previous meeting on 26 September 2022 
as a correct record. 
 

26 Declarations of interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

27 Governance of Council's charitable trusts  
 
The Executive Member for Investment and Companies, Councillor Archer, introduced 
the report – Governance of charitable trusts. The Council is sole trustee for 17 
charitable trusts. To promote good governance and to demonstrate there is clear 
separation between the Council’s role as the Municipal Authority and the Council’s 
role as trustee, it was recommended that the terms of reference of the Commercial 
Ventures Executive Sub-Committee (CVESC) be extended. This is to fulfil the role of 
trustee in the charitable trusts where the Council is the sole trustee. 

It was proposed that the Commercial Ventures Executive Sub-Committee be renamed 
as the Partner, Shareholder and Trustee Sub-Committee. 

Proposed amendments to the terms of reference were set out within Appendix 1. 
Appendix 2 (published as an Addendum) contains information on each of the charities 
including their assets. Online training on charities will be delivered to CVESC and 
officers in the Autumn. 

Visiting Members noted that this proposal had been raised at Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in relation to the Reigate Baths Trust and the Public Open Spaces Trusts. 

5

Agenda Item 2



Commercial Ventures Executive Sub-Committee, Thursday, 20th October, 2022  
They asked for information about the balances held in trust. They also asked how the 
Council ensured that the funds are increasing in value each year. 

Chief Finance Officer, Pat Main, told the Committee that the Council’s annual 
statement of accounts confirms the total balance to be around £1.7m, with the two 
most significant funds amounting to circa £0.750 million each. The funds are invested 
alongside other Council funds as set out in the Treasury Management reports. This 
meant there was access to a wider portfolio that attracts higher interest returns and 
the interest earned was credited to the charities each year. 

Councillor Archer said that there had been a number of questions raised over recent 
years. Governance would be put on a firmer footing through these proposals. 
Appendix 2 started to pull together some of the history and specific questions could be 
raised at future meetings on how the Council was managing the assets and to make 
sure there were appropriate returns. He thanked officers for their work on this report.  

The Leader said that work continued as two Henry Smith charities needed to be 
included. There was a great deal of corporate history tied up with the trusts and legal 
documents were held securely in storage. It was important to reconstitute this 
Committee. It was noted that some of these charities already had trustees in the 
community who were doing a good job. This Committee would work alongside those 
trustees. 

Visiting Members asked whether the money held in trust could be used for other 
projects when the original assets, such as the Reigate Baths, for example, had been 
closed for many years.  

Councillor Archer said the Committee would be able to discuss the best use of these 
funds and was open to suggestions from other Members about how money could be 
used in accordance with the wishes of the trusts. 

Members asked specifically about the intentions regarding the two largest trust funds 
and the need to understand the current purpose and history and what the Council had 
committed to when it had taken on the funds.  

Councillor Archer said this would be taken on board by the Committee. 

RESOLVED: 

That CVESC approves these Recommendations go forward to Full Council: 

(1)  In accordance with Article 15 of the Constitution, Full Council approves 
the extension of the terms of reference of the Commercial Ventures 
Executive Sub-Committee, subject to paragraph (2) below, by 
incorporating the terms of reference as shown in Appendix 1 to this 
report. 

(2)  The Monitoring Officer be authorised to take all necessary action to 
finalise the terms of reference to be included in the Council’s Constitution 
and to make such other consequential amendments to the Constitution as 
the Monitoring Officer deems appropriate. 

(3)  The Commercial Ventures Executive Sub-Committee be re-named as the 
Partner, Shareholder and Trustee Sub-Committee. 

 
 

6

Agenda Item 2



Commercial Ventures Executive Sub-Committee, Thursday, 20th October, 2022  
 

28 Any other business  
 
There was no other business. 
 
 

The meeting finished at 7.20 pm 
 

7

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank

8



SIGNED OFF BY Frank Etheridge, Strategic 
Head of Neighbourhood 
Services 

AUTHOR Mark Jolley, Greenspaces 
Business & Development 
Manager 

TELEPHONE Tel: 01737 276258 

EMAIL Mark.Jolley@reigate-
banstead.gov.uk 

TO Commercial Ventures 
Executive Sub-Committee 

DATE Thursday, 17 November 2022 

 

EXECUTIVE 
MEMBER 

Portfolio Holder for 
Investment and Companies 

 

KEY DECISION REQUIRED Yes 

WARDS AFFECTED (All Wards); 
 

SUBJECT Project Baseball closure, November 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

(i) To note the operational decision to formally close Project Baseball. 
 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To provide a project review and rationale for the decision to cease any further work on, and 
to formally close Project Baseball. The project review serves to provide an account of the 
project approach, and how it was anticipated to support the Council’s Corporate Plan 
objectives. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This report seeks to formally record the Council’s operational decision to to close Project 
Baseball. It provides an account of the project, and details how it was anticipated to support 
the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan objectives through its future use, and income 
generation potential. 
 
As a strategic project, risk management was considered in significant depth, both prior to 
and throughout the life of the project, and as a result, appropriate mitigation measures were 

9

Agenda Item 4



implemented, as required. Executive Members took account of the possible risks and 
potential benefits and made a judgement on the appropriate considerations as part of their 
decision to pursue the project. 
 
In addition, the project’s performance was reviewed, and both the positive and negative 
experiences associated with its delivery were documented, with the objective to capture, 
analyse and utilise the findings to improve the planning and delivery phases of future 
projects. 
 
Formal approval of the recommendations by the Commercial Ventures Executive 
Sub-Committee is not required, as the report serves to note an operational 
decision. 
 

STATUTORY POWERS 

1. Section 2 of the Local Government Act 2000 gives Local Authorities a general power 
of competence to act in the furtherance of the economic, social or environmental 
wellbeing of their area. The exercise of that power is specifically linked, in section 4 of 
the act, to works required in the furtherance of community and corporate plan 
objectives. 

2. The project was anticipated to provide economic, social and environmental 
enhancements to the wellbeing of the area. 

3. Had the opportunity been realised, the anticipated enhancements would have 
contributed towards the objectives of the Council’s Corporate Plan. 

4. The planning application associated with the project was considered and subsequently 
refused at Planning Committee under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

BACKGROUND 

5. The Council’s Corporate Plan contains a number of objectives aimed at ensuring the 
borough is a great place to live and work. Pursuance of the project would have 
supported the delivery of these objectives 

6. In addition to supporting the Council’s Corporate Plan Objectives the project offered 
strong potential to generate income to support other Council services.  

KEY INFORMATION 

Project overview 

7. The overarching aim of the project was to construct a crematorium within the 
borough that would provide a much needed and greatly improved level of service to 
the residents and offer the Council access to a strong and growing business sector. 
This was due to the fact that the Council currently provides a directly delivered burial 
service, with no cremation facilities available in the borough.  
 

8. Cremation has become increasingly popular across the UK, with over 80% of the 
deceased being cremated as at 2021. It was identified that local families wishing to 

10

Agenda Item 4



opt for cremation had no option but to use crematoria in neighbouring boroughs. 
However, due to high (and growing) demand, these existing facilities were noted to 
be operating far in excess of their quantitative capacities, and were not considered to 
serve customers, and particularly local people, well at a difficult time of life, either in 
terms of service, cost, environment and location/accessibility. 
 

9. The Council’s aim was to deliver a higher quality facility and service than the nearest 
competitors, in a more accessible location to our residents and those living near to 
the borough, and at a price that was competitive, whilst also generating new income 
streams that could support the Council’s overall financial self-sufficiency. 
 

10. In December 2019, the proposal was presented to the Commercial Ventures 
Executive Sub-Committee (‘CVESC’), and it was considered that in addition to 
providing a social benefit, the facility had the potential to generate a sizeable income 
stream for the Council (in excess of £1.5m per annum, operating at full capacity). 
The recommendation to approve the funding required to undertake the feasibility 
activities, along with the appointment of a suitably qualified project manager was 
subsequently supported. 
 

11. Further to CVESC approval being received, specialist contractors were sought and 
appointed, and feasibility activities were progressed by both the Council’s internal 
project team, and the external Design Team. 

 
12. Pre-application planning advice was also received from the Local Planning Authority 

(‘LPA’), and shortly thereafter an Executive report seeking approval for the 
submission of the planning application was brought forward for a decision at formal 
CVESC in mid-October 2020. The recommendation was approved, and activities 
commenced as per the planned approach. 

 
13. Throughout the planning consultation period, various matters were identified as 

requiring either further investigation or resolution to enable determination to take 
place- many of which suffered delays due to awaiting clarifications and further 
information from external parties. 

 
14. The additional work resulted in a notable protraction to the programme, and in 

August 2021 a point was reached where the LPA confirmed that it had sufficient 
information to enable the application to be tabled at Planning Committee for 
determination in September 2021. 

 
15. Prior to Planning Committee, the Planning Officer’s report was published, and this 

made the recommendation to approve the application. However, the Committee 
subsequently took the decision to refuse it on the grounds of it not meeting the very 
special circumstance of being able to evidence a clear need for development in the 
Metropolitan Green Belt. 

 
16. Further to the application’s refusal, potential options were considered, including: 

1. Appealing the decision – further to investigation, it was identified that a 
mechanism does not exist which would enable the Council to appeal its own 
planning decision. 

11

Agenda Item 4



2. Re-submitting a second application – the majority of requirements for a second 
application could be transferred from the initial application. The evidence base 
would need to be re-examined, such as the needs assessment and alternative 
sites assessment. However, it was identified that it was not guaranteed that a 
second application would be successful. 

3. Pursuing a Joint Venture – this would involve entering into an arrangement with a 
third party to re-submit an application. It was identified that dependent on the 
arrangement and the entity making the application, that the option to appeal a 
refused application may not be an automatic entitlement. 

4. Sale of IP rights to a private sector operator – this would involve the sale of 
intellectual property rights to the application and associated information assets to 
a private sector operator, along with granting an option on the site to enable them 
to bring the scheme forwards. 
 

17. Having investigated the aforementioned options, it was established that all were 
unviable due to a number of factors, including cost, market demand and compliance 
with legal requirements. Consensus was subsequently reached on the project’s 
future viability and Portfolio Holder agreement was received to proceed with 
investigating the approach to close the project. 

 
LESSONS LEARNED 

18. Further to agreement being received to investigate the project’s closure, Officers 
considered the project’s performance, and documented both the positive and negative 
experiences associated with its delivery. The objective is this case was to capture, 
analyse and utilise the findings to improve the planning and delivery phases of future 
projects. Key findings included: 

 
What went well 

• The project’s business case was thorough. This was, in part, due to aligning its 
completion with the Council’s Commercial Governance framework, which ensured 
that key considerations around objectives, viability and governance were 
evidenced. 

• Establishment of a project steering group that was effective, well-managed and 
well-attended with representation and buy-in from appropriate teams across the 
Council. 

• Ethical walls were put in place to mitigate potential conflicts of interest and ensure 
separation between the Local Planning Authority and the project. The Council is 
considered to have exceeded both the technical and perceived requirements of 
maintaining the separation between entities. 

• Selection of a multi-disciplinary professional design team with extensive 
experience of delivering similar projects elsewhere. 

• Maintaining and enhancing access to the local countryside as part of the design 
proposal. 

 
What could have been improved 

• Greater time allowance and/or contingency for planning stage could have been 
included in the project timeline. 

12

Agenda Item 4



• Public consultation event suffered from ICT issues. A more intuitive format, such as 
a webinar or an in-person event could have proven more beneficial and interactive 
for the public. However, the event format was largely dictated by the prevailing 
COVID restrictions. 

• Consideration of alternative ways to engage with local stakeholders to overcome 
concerns about the development perhaps through the involvement of the council’s 
Community Development team and the local community development worker 
(within the restrictions of COVID). 

• It was established that where the Council is determining its own planning application, 
no right of appeal exists if it is refused. As such, greater consideration could have 
been given to delivery models which presented a higher likelihood of planning 
consent being achieved. 

• Earlier involvement from Place Delivery colleagues, could have helped shape 
business case and feasibility stage approach to enable it to have progressed faster 
in terms of appointment of external PM and professional team. 

OPTIONS 

19. Two options are presented for consideration, and these are to: 
1. Accept the report and note the recommendation that the project should follow 

the Council’s formal, internal project closure process; or 
2. Reject the report and seek further information. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

20. As identified in the Statutory Powers section of this report, the Council has the power 
to act in the furtherance of the economic, social or environmental wellbeing of the area. 

21. There was no legal duty to consult the public on any commercial terms of the project. 
These are matters for the authority. The Commercial Ventures Executive Sub-
Committee is entitled to determine them at its discretion, notwithstanding any previous 
decisions it has made, having considered the contents of this report. 

22. Legal advice was sought as necessary throughout the pursuance of the project. 
23. No residual legal implications have been identified that may extend beyond the closure 

of the project. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

Financial Sustainability 
24. The project offered the potential to generate a significant financial return for the Council 

which would have made a material contribution towards addressing the forecast 
revenue budget gap over the medium term.  

25. The inherent financial risks were noted and considered as part of the decision made 
by Executive Members to support the pursuance of the project. 

26. Further to an initial business case review by a specialist consultant in the field of 
crematorium planning and development, funding was allocated for feasibility and 
planning work in December 2019 from the Corporate Plan Delivery Fund Reserve, to 
a total value of £0.333m. 
 

13

Agenda Item 4



27. The project budget allocation was later revised as part of the recommendations in 
the Executive report dated 11 May 2020, where it was substituted by an allocation 
from the Capital Schemes (Feasibility Studies) Reserve. 
 

28. Actual project expenditure incurred as part of the feasibility and planning stage was 
£0.337m, resulting in a minor £4k adverse variance against forecasts in the Project 
Initiation Document (‘PID’) estimate. This was largely caused by the protraction of the 
planning process, specifically the requirement for additional studies, ecological 
surveys (intended to be conditioned and undertaken in the next project stage), and 
additional work undertaken by the planning agent as part of the consultation process. 

 
29. The combined total project spend from initial business case review to November 

2022 is £0.357m, and was all funded through a call on Reserves. 

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

30. The Council has a Public Sector Equality Duty under the Equality Act (2010) to have 
due regard to the need to: 
 

• Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct 
prohibited under the Act; 

• Advance equality of opportunity between people who share those protected 
characteristics and people who do not; 

• Foster good relations between people who share those characteristics and 
people who do not. 
 

31. The three parts of the duty applies to the following protected characteristics: age; 
disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy/maternity; race; religion/faith; sex and 
sexual orientation. In addition, marriage and civil partnership status applies to the first 
part of the duty. 

 
32. The Committee should ensure that it has regard for these duties by considering them 

through the course of its work. This should include considering: 
 

• How policy issues impact on different groups within the community, particularly 
those that share the nine protected characteristics; 

• Whether the impact on particular groups is fair and proportionate; 
• Whether there is equality of access to service and fair representation of all groups 

within the Borough; 
• Whether any positive opportunities to advance equality of opportunity and/or 

good relations between people, are being realised. 

33. It is important to note that as part of the planning and delivery of the project, relevant 
considerations were made in relation to equalities impacts, to ensure our duties were 
met. 

COMMUNICATION IMPLICATIONS 

14

Agenda Item 4



34. Implications relating to communications were investigated and appropriately actioned 
as part of the pursuance of the project. 
 

35. No residual communications implications have been identified that may extend beyond 
the closure of the project. It is intended that the project-related content on the Council’s 
website will be updated to reflect the latest position, and that relevant pages will be 
deleted at an appropriate point in future. 

RISK MANAGEMENT CONSIDERATIONS 

36. As a strategic project, risk management had been considered in significant depth, prior 
to and throughout the life of the project, and resulted in appropriate mitigation 
measures being implemented, as required. 
 

37. No residual risk management implications have been identified that may extend 
beyond the closure of the project. 

CONSULTATION 

38. The Leader of the Council and Executive Members with responsibility for Investment 
and Companies, Finance and Governance, and Corporate Policy and Resources have 
been consulted with regard to the recommendations of this report. 

POLICY FRAMEWORK 

39. As identified, the project was anticipated to support the delivery of the Council’s 
Corporate Plan objectives through providing enhancements to the local area. 

40. The project was in line with the Council’s Capital Investment Strategy 2022/23 to 
2027/28. 

 

15

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank

16


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Project Baseball Closure, November 2022

